IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 82231

Electronically Filed
Aug 06 2021 06:19 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

CLEMON HUDSON

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and from a denial of a Petition for Writ of
Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Carli Kierny, District Court Judge
District Court Case Nos. C-15-309578-2 & A-18-783635-W

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Christopher R. Oram, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 4349
Rachael E. Stewart, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 14122
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 598-1471

4 NRAP 26.1 ii
5 NRAP 28(e)(1)51
6 NRAP 32(a)(4)-(6)51
7 NRAP 32(a)(6)51
8 NRAP 32(a)(7)52

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

1 **IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

2 The District Court sentenced Mr. Hudson on June 21, 2018, and filed the
3 Judgment of Conviction on July 2, 2018. On December 3, 2020, the District
4 Court granted a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus and found that
5 Mr. Hudson had been deprived of his right to file a direct appeal after his
6 conviction. The District Court denied Mr. Hudson’s remaining post-conviction
7 claims. The District Court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and
8 Order on December 16, 2020. Mr. Hudson filed a timely Notice of Appeal from
9 the denial of his post-conviction claims on December 16, 2020. Both the District
10 Court Clerk and Mr. Hudson filed timely Notices of Appeal from the Judgment
11 of Conviction as granted by the habeas petition on December 17, 2020.
12

13
14 This Court has jurisdiction over the District Court’s denial of the post-
15 conviction claims under NRS 34.575. This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal
16 from the Judgment of Conviction pursuant to NRS 177.015.
17

18 **V. ROUTING STATEMENT**

19 Pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (hereinafter,
20 “NRAP”) 17(b), the Supreme Court may assign this case to the Court of Appeals.
21

22 **VI. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 23 1. Whether the District Court abused its discretion by not granting Mr.
24 Hudson’s Motion to Sever Defendants.

- 1 2. Whether the prosecutor committed misconduct at trial such that the
2 conviction must be reversed.
- 3 3. Whether the District Court erred by giving improper jury instructions.
- 4 4. Whether the District Court erred by allowing uniformed officers to pack the
5 courtroom.
- 6 5. Whether there was cumulative error in the trial proceedings.
- 7 6. Whether the District Court abused its discretion by failing to find that Mr.
8 Hudson received ineffective assistance of Defense Counsel for failure to
9 object to the District Court's presentation of Jury Instruction Number 38
10 regarding flight to the jury.
- 11 7. Whether the District Court abused its discretion by failing to find Defense
12 Counsel ineffective for failure to object to the District Court's giving of Jury
13 Instruction Numbers 40 and 50 in violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth
14 Amendments to the United States Constitution.
- 15 8. Whether the District Court erred by failing to grant an evidentiary hearing.

14 **VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

15 This is an appeal from the District Court's Judgment of Conviction issued
16 on July 2, 2018. This is also an appeal from the District Court's Findings of Fact,
17 Conclusions of Law and Order denying Mr. Hudson's post-conviction claims
18 issued on December 16, 2020.

19 ***TRIAL PROCEEDINGS***

20
21 On September 23, 2015, a Clark County grand jury indicted Appellant
22 Clemon Hudson and his co-defendant, Steven Turner, on the following charges:
23 Count 1- Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 2- Attempt Burglary while in
24

1 Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon; Count 3- Attempt Murder with Use of
2 a Deadly Weapon; Count 4- Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count
3 5- Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm;
4 Count 6- Discharging Firearm at or into Occupied Structure, Vehicle, Aircraft, or
5 Watercraft. (A.A. Vol. 1, pg. 174-179). Appellant pleaded not guilty to all charges
6 on October 1, 2015. (A.A. Vol. 1, pg. 180-186).

8 Appellant filed a Motion to Sever on August 28, 2017. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg.
9 187-192). The parties argued the Motion to Sever on October 12, 2017. (A.A. Vol.
10 2, pg. 203-230). The District Court denied the Motion to Sever without prejudice
11 and instructed the State to submit proposed redactions to each defendant's
12 statement as a means to cure the *Bruton* issues alleged in the Motion. (A.A. Vol. 2,
13 pg. 203-230). The District Court further told Defense Counsel:

15 But I want to be very that the – the denial is made, I think
16 appropriately so, without prejudice. Mean, Mr. Mueller, that if you see
17 what they propose and you still want to come back and say, Judge, I
18 can't adequately defend my client if they go together to trial, then I
19 think that you get another bite of the apple because I'm telling you I
20 think this is really close and really tight. And I am very mindful of
Chartier, but I think right now we have a well-established, accepted
21 way to attempt to alleviate the bias or the potential for fundamental
22 unfairness. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 221).

23 On November 2, 2017, Mr. Hudson renewed his motion to sever the
24 defendants. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 241). Defense Counsel for Mr. Hudson argued that he

1 had made “a good faith effort to go through the transcripts and sort them out.” *Id.*

2 Moreover, Defense Counsel for Mr. Hudson argued:

3 I’ve had the advantage of being an aggressive prosecutor, as well as an
4 aggressive defense attorney, and I know what I would do with my
5 colleague’s proposed redactions. They would beat Mr. Hudson left and
6 right. It is a fatally flawed idea that those transcripts can be redacted.
(A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 241).

7 Additionally, also during the hearing on November 2, 2017, Counsel for Mr.
8 Hudson unequivocally stated, “I oppose the idea that we can redact those
9 transcripts successfully.” (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 242). He further stated, “I’m ready to
10 go. All ready – I am prepared and ready to go this time. The transcripts themselves
11 are fatally flawed. The idea that this case can be tried together fairly is not
12 possible.” (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 244). On the contrary, Counsel for codefendant Mr.
13 Turner agreed with redacting the transcripts and submitted their proposed
14 redactions. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 242-243). The District Court denied the renewed
15 motion to sever without prejudice. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 245).

17 On November 16, 2017, the parties convened with the District Court on a
18 status check for the redactions. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 249-254). Both the State and
19 Counsel for Mr. Turner submitted proposed redactions. Counsel for Mr. Hudson
20 steadfastly maintained that the statements could not be redacted:
21

1 THE COURT: I've reviewed the redactions submitted by the District
2 Attorney's Office and the redactions submitted by the Public
3 Defender's Office. Mr. Mueller felt he – the statement cannot be
redacted and therefore did not submit any. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 250-251).

4 ...

5 MR. MUELLER: And for the record I'm not being flippant, I got in
6 the office early this morning again about 4:00, reread everything again.
7 Mr. Hudson's statement goes to – Mr. Turner's statement goes to 27
8 pages. There was the first 3 pages where they introduced themselves
9 and they asked how he got his leg injured are about the only pages that
don't have something I wouldn't use as a prosecutor, against Mr.
Hudson. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 251).

10 The District Court then asked Defense Counsel to give the Court's proposed
11 redactions a fair reading and told Defense Counsel that he could renew the motion
12 to sever if necessary. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 252-253).

13 During a status check on November 30, 2017, the District Court explained
14 its redactions to the parties and gave the parties two weeks to review the
15 redactions. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 255-259).

16 On December 14, 2017, the parties appeared for a status check. Counsel for
17 codefendant Mr. Turner raised no challenge to the District Court's redactions of
18 the statements. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 262). Counsel for Mr. Hudson did not agree with
19 the redactions. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 263).

20 The State filed an Amended Information on April 15, 2018, charging Mr.
21 Hudson with Count 1- Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 2- Attempt
22 Burglary while in Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon; Count 3- Attempt
23
24

1 Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 4- Attempt Murder with Use of a
2 Deadly Weapon; and Count 5- Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in
3 Substantial Bodily Harm. (A.A. Vol. 2, pg. 275-279).

4 Mr. Hudson proceeded to trial from April 16, 2018, through April 27, 2018.

5 On April 27, 2018, the jury returned guilty verdict as follows: Count 1- Guilty of
6 Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 2- Guilty of Attempt Burglary While in
7 Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon; Count 3- Attempt Murder with
8 Deadly Weapon; Count 4- Guilty of Attempt Murder with Deadly Weapon; and
9 Count 5- Guilty of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial
10 Bodily Harm. (A.A. Vol. 9, pg. 1588-1589).

11 On June 20, 2018, Mr. Hudson filed a sentencing memorandum and exhibits
12 in support of the sentencing memorandum. (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1590-1593). On
13 June 21, 2018, the District Court sentenced Mr. Hudson as follows: Count 1- three
14 hundred sixty four (364) days; Count 2- sixteen (16) to seventy-two (72) months,
15 concurrent with Count 1; Count 3- forty-eight (48) to one hundred twenty (120)
16 months, plus a consecutive thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months for
17 use of a deadly weapon, concurrent with Count 2; Count 4- forty-eight (48) to one
18 hundred twenty (120) months, plus a consecutive thirty-six (36) to one hundred
19 twenty (120) months, consecutive to Count 3; and Count 5- thirty-six (36) to one
20 hundred twenty (120) months, concurrent with Count 2. The District Court
21
22
23
24

1 rendered the aggregate total sentence as one hundred sixty eight (168) months to
2 four hundred eighty (480) months, with 1,022 days of credit for time served. (A.A.
3 Vol. 10, pg. 1652-1655). The District Court filed the Judgment of Conviction on
4 July 2, 2018. (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1659-1661).

5
6 ***POST-CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS***

7 Counsel for Mr. Hudson did not file a Notice of Appeal. On October 25,
8 2018, Mr. Hudson filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. (A.A. Vol. 10, pg.
9 1662-1669). On December 18, 2019, Mr. Hudson filed a Supplemental Brief in
10 Support of Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).
11 (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1672-1741). In the Supplemental Brief, Mr. Hudson alleged
12 the following claims:

- 13
- 14 I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
 - 15 II. Mr. Hudson was wrongfully deprived of his right under established law
16 to a direct appeal and hereby requests relief pursuant to *Lozada v. State*,
110 Nev. 349, 871 P.2d 944 (1994) and NRAP 4(c).
 - 17 III. Mr. Hudson received ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to
18 object to the District Court’s presentation of Instruction Number 38
19 regarding flight to the jury.
 - 20 IV. Mr. Hudson received ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to
21 object to the District Court’s giving of Instruction Numbers 40 and 50 in
22 violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
23 Constitution.

24 (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1680-1692).

1 The District Court found that Mr. Hudson had been deprived of his right to
2 file a direct appeal, and the District Court denied all of Mr. Hudson's other claims.
3 (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1787). Mr. Hudson filed a timely Notice of Appeal on
4 December 17, 2020. (A.A. Vol. 10, pg. 1802-1803).

5
6 **VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

7 Mr. Eric Clarkson was friends with codefendant Steven Turner. (A.A. Vol.
8 4, pg. 712-713). Mr. Clarkson did not know Mr. Hudson. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 734-
9 735). Mr. Clarkson resided with his best friend Mr. Willoughby Potter de
10 Grimaldi at a house in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 716,
11 747).

12
13 Prior to the subject incident, Mr. Turner visited Mr. Clarkson's house on a
14 biweekly or weekly basis. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 713, 735; A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 847). The
15 pair smoked marijuana together. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 713). Before the subject
16 incident, Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Turner had stopped communicating. (A.A. Vol. 4,
17 pg. 713; A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 848).

18
19 On September 4, 2015, around 3:30 a.m., Mr. Clarkson played on his phone,
20 watched television, and readied himself for bed. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 716). Once Mr.
21 Clarkson got into bed, he heard his metal outdoor patio furniture being moved
22 outside his window. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 718-719). This caused Mr. Clarkson to look
23 out the window where he saw an African American man outside on the patio (A.A.
24

1 Vol. 4, pg. 720). Then, Mr. Clarkson grabbed his phone, let his roommate know
2 what he saw, and contacted 911 to report that someone was in his backyard. (A.A.
3 Vol. 4, pg. 720). Moments later, Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Grimaldi heard someone
4 banging on the front door, and Mr. Grimaldi saw a figure outside. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg.
5 723, 752-753).
6

7 When Mr. Grimaldi went to the back window, he saw a shirtless African
8 American man with a billed cap on his head, racking a shotgun. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg.
9 750, 774). When Mr. Grimaldi looked out the window, he saw a tall African
10 American man with an afro wearing basketball shorts. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 752-753).
11 Mr. Grimaldi then saw a third person out of the corner of his eye, describing the
12 man as African American with a spiky afro. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 756-757). Mr.
13 Grimaldi did not recognize any of the individuals. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 759).
14

15 When two police officers arrived (Officer Malik Grego-Smith and Officer
16 Jeremy Robertson), Mr. Clarkson let them in the front door. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 726).
17 Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Grimaldi explained to the officers how to open the back
18 door and then Officer Robertson opened the back door. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 726-727).
19 Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Grimaldi recalled that immediately after the back door was
20 opened there were gunshots. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 729-730, 762-763). Mr. Grimaldi
21 had previously told detectives he believed that an officer fired the first gunshot, but
22 testified at trial the first shots came from outside on the patio. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg.
23
24

1 779, 781-782). Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Grimaldi both saw different types of bullets
2 enter their home. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 730, 762-763). After the shots were fired, Mr.
3 Clarkson and Mr. Grimaldi hid in a bedroom. (A.A. Vol. 4, pg. 731).

4 Officer Malik Grego-Smith, along with Officer Jeremy Robertson,
5 responded to the dispatch call regarding a prowler. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1010, 1013).
6 After asking dispatch to inform the homeowner to open the front door, Officer
7 Grego-Smith and Officer Robertson entered the residence. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1018).
8 Once in the residence, the officers developed a plan to “clear the backyard” to see
9 if anyone was out there. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1020). Officer Robertson was to open
10 the back door, and as he opened the door, Officer Grego-Smith would go through
11 with his weapon drawn, and Officer Robertson would follow. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg.
12 1021). Officer Grego-Smith drew his weapon, and as he stepped outside, two
13 shots were fired from outside on the patio, one striking Officer Robertson. (A.A.
14 Vol. 6, pg. 1021,1024). Officer Grego-Smith returned fire towards the patio, firing
15 twelve shots. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1024; A.A. Vol. 8, pg. 1241-1240).

16 Officer Grego-Smith testified he turned his flashlight on right when he
17 started shooting and saw “a light-skinned black male with no shirt and purple
18 basketball shorts” on the patio. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1026). The man was
19 approximately three to four feet from him. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1038). Officer Grego-
20 Smith recalled yelling, “Don’t move, keep your hands up, don’t move or I’ll
21
22
23
24

1 fucking shoot you.” (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1028). Officer Grego-Smith immediately
2 radioed dispatch to inform them that shots had been fired, and Officer Robertson
3 had been shot. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg. 1028).

4 Officer Jeremy Robertson recalled he had just opened the back door to the
5 patio of the residence before he was shot and fell to the ground. (A.A. Vol. 6, pg.
6 1068). Officer Robertson was struck in the upper thigh, fracturing his femur (A.A.
7 Vol. 6, pg. 1070, 1076).¹

8 Sergeant Joshua Bitsko, a K-9 officer, responded to the Oveja residence.
9 (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 910, 918). Upon arriving at the residence, Sergeant Bitsko
10 learned from the air unit that the suspect was laying in the backyard with a rifle
11 next to him. (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 923). A Beretta handgun was also located nearby.
12 (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 864). Sergeant Bitsko deployed his police dog into the backyard
13 who located and bit the suspect. (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 923-924). The suspect, Clemon
14 Hudson, complied with all commands while being taken into custody. (A.A. Vol.
15 5, pg. 815, 926-928).

16 Police secured a perimeter around the crime scene approximately a mile and
17 a half by a mile wide in order to search for additional suspects. (A.A. Vol. 5, pg.
18 936). Detective Jeremy Vance spent approximately three and a half hours driving
19
20
21
22

23 ¹ Officer Robertson was struck by fire from the SKS file, which the State alleged at
24 trial was fired by Mr. Turner.

1 around the perimeter looking for the suspect described by Officer Grego-Smith.
2 (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 936).

3 After being notified of a call concerning a suspicious person in a backyard,
4 Detective Vance came upon Mr. Turner and began to question him. (A.A. Vol. 5,
5 pg. 937-941). Detective Vance noticed Mr. Turner had a leg injury and blood on
6 his pants. (A.A. Vol. 5, pg. 941). When questioned about the injury, Mr. Turner
7 indicated his leg had been caught on a fence at his friend's house. (A.A. Vol. 5, pg.
8 941). Detective Vance believed a gunshot wound caused the injury. (A.A. Vol. 5,
9 pg. 941-942).²

11 Ms. Stephanie Fletcher, a senior crime scene analyst with the Las Vegas
12 Metropolitan Police Department responded to the Oveja Circle residence. (A.A.
13 Vol. 6, pg. 954). Analysts recovered the following firearms from the scene: a SKS
14 rifle, a Mossberg 12-gauge Shotgun, and a Beretta .25 caliber handgun. (A.A. Vol.
15 5, pg. 861, 864).

17 Ms. Gayle Johnson, a forensic scientist with the Las Vegas Metropolitan
18 Police Department, conducted latent print testing on several items. (A.A. Vol. 7,
19 pg. 1101-1109). With regard to an AK-47 firearm,³ the analyst was unable to

21
22 ² After being taken into custody, Mr. Turner was transported to the hospital
regarding his leg injury. At the hospital, the physician treated Mr. Turner for a
gunshot wound with apparent stippling. (A.A. Vol. 9, pg. 1395-1396).

23 ³ This particular firearm is also referred to as an "SKS rifle" by the parties and is
24 referred to as such in the Amendment Indictment.

1 develop any suitable prints for testing. (A.A. Vol. 7, pg. 1104). Two latent prints
2 were recovered from a shotgun, both belonging to Mr. Hudson. (A.A. Vol. 7, pg.
3 1107-1108). DNA testing was conducted on the firearms. (A.A. Vol. 7, pg. 1113-
4 1132). No conclusions could be made about the DNA located on the firearms.
5 (A.A. Vol. 7, pg. 1119, 1123-1125).
6

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