IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Sep 03 2021 12:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CLEMON HUDSON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 82231

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Nevada Bar #004349 RACHEL E. STEWART, ESQ. Nevada Bar #014122 520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1471

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

These statements would prove much more incriminating to Appellant than the redacted portions of Turner's statements, rendering any alleged error harmless. "[A] defendant's own statements may be considered in assessing whether a <u>Bruton</u> error, if any, was harmless." <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 800, 809, 32 P.3d 773, 779 (2001). Any connection the jury might have made between Turner and Appellant based on Turner's redacted statements was likely based on the fact that overwhelming evidence, apart from Turner's statements, was introduced at trial, proving that Appellant and Turner committed the charged offenses.

II. THE STATE DID NOT ENGAGE IN PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the court engages in a two-step analysis. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188-89, 196 P.3d 465, 476-77 (2008). First, the court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper. Id. Second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants

reversal. Id. The court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error. Id. If the error is of constitutional dimension, the State must demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, the error did not contribute to the verdict. If the error is not of constitutional dimension, reversal is appropriate only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. Id.

In addition, harmless-error review applies only if the defendant preserved the error for appellate review. "[T]o preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must object to the misconduct at trial because this 'allow[s] the district court to rule upon the objection, admonish the prosecutor, and instruct the jury." Id. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (internal citations omitted). Otherwise the comments are subject to plain error review. Plain means obvious from a casual review of the record. Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995). The issue must be clear error under current law. Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 638, 648, 119 P.3d 1224, 1232 (2005).

A prosecutor's comments should be considered in context, and a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001). Review of alleged prosecutorial misconduct requires consideration of the nature of the evidence presented against the defendant. Smith v. State, 120 Nev. 944, 947-948, 102 P.3d 569, 572 (2004). Statements construed by the defense as inflammatory mischaracterizations will not be deemed prosecutorial misconduct where the statements are supported by evidence adduced at trial. Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 24, 163 P.3d 408 (2007). Moreover, where evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even aggravated prosecutorial misconduct may constitute harmless error. King v. State, 116 Nev. 349, 356, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176 (2000).

A. "Feeling Good" About Conviction

Appellant did not object to the prosecutor's comment about feeling good about convicting someone who shot a police officer. 9 AA 1499. Therefore, this Court evaluates the comment for plain error. Patterson, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d at 987. The State acknowledges that this Court has already determined that this comment was improper. <u>Turner v. State</u>, 136 Nev. ___, ___, 473 P.3d 438, 449 (2020).

However, this comment does not warrant reversal in light of the substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt. Given the overwhelming evidence against Appellant, he has failed to demonstrate that this comment substantially affected the jury's verdict. This Court reached the same conclusion in <u>Turner</u>. 136 Nev. at , 473 P.3d at 450. See also Smith, 120 Nev. at 947-948, 102 P.3d at 572.

В. "More Crimes Were Possible"

Again, the State acknowledges that this Court has already determined that his comment was improper. 136 Nev. at , 473 P.3d 449. However, this error was harmless and therefore does not warrant reversal. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188-89, 196

P.3d at 476-77. Given the substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt admitted at trial, including Appellant's own admissions, reversal is clearly not warranted. This Court reached the same conclusion in <u>Turner</u>. 136 Nev. at ___, 473 P.3d at 450. <u>See also Smith</u>, 120 Nev. at 947-948, 102 P.3d at 572.

C. "That's the Truth" and "That's the Reality of It"

The remarks Appellant objects to next in his brief are not improper. AOB at 29. The prosecutor stated it does not matter who the defendants tried to kill, it is still attempted murder. 9 AA 1510. They underscored this legal definition of attempted murder by saying "that's the truth," "the reality," and "[t]hat's all that matters."

These statements are not of the prosecutor's personal belief as to Appellant's guilt. AOB at 29. Rather, they were permissible argument that the evidence proved Appellant's guilt. "Statements by the prosecutor, in argument, indicative of his opinion, belief, or knowledge as to the guilt of the accused, when made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial, are permissible and unobjectionable." <u>Domingues v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 683, 696, 917 P.2d 1364, 1373 (1996) (citing Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971).

Appellant did not object to the prosecutor's comments about the nature of attempted murder and transferred intent at trial. 9 AA 1510. Therefore, this Court evaluates the comment for plain error. Patterson, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d at 987.

Since this is a correct statement of the law of attempted murder, the prosecutor's underscoring the point cannot be improper.

Appellant offers no other definition for attempted murder. The State argued, based on the evidence admitted at trial, that the defendants attempted two counts of attempted murder as defined by the law when they fired at the people standing in the doorway of the victims' home. This is clearly permissible. Domingues, 112 Nev. at 696, 917 P.2d at 1373.

Even viewed cumulatively, the Turner Court did not find the comments warranted reversal. Turner, at 62, 473 P.3d at 450. The prosecutor's comments "did not infect the trial with unfairness so as to affect the verdict and deny [appellant] his constitutional right to a fair trial."). Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1195, 196 P.3d at 480. His criminal conviction should not be overturned. Leonard, 117 Nev. at 81, 17 P.3d at 414.

III. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS CORRECTLY RECITED NEVADA LAW

Appellant next challenges specific jury instructions issued in his case. AOB at 30.

"District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008) (citing Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005)). The decision to refuse a proposed instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. Whether a particular jury

instruction correctly states the law is reviewed de novo. Id. Claims on appeal regarding jury instructions are weighed using a harmless-error analysis. Barnier v. State, 119 Nev. 129, 132, 67 P.3d 320, 322 (2003).

To evaluate whether a jury instruction violates due process, a reviewing court determines if "the ailing instruction by itself so infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violates due process." Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 72–73, 112 S. Ct. 475, 482 (1991) (quoting Cupp v. Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 147, 94 S.Ct. 396, 400–01 (1973)). "It is well established that the instruction 'may not be judged in artificial isolation,' but must be considered in the context of the instructions as a whole and the trial record." Id. "[T]he proper inquiry is not whether the instruction "could have" been applied unconstitutionally, but whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury did so apply it." <u>Victor v. Nebraska</u>, 511 U.S. 1, 1–2, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 1241 (1994) (citing Estelle).

Jury Instruction No. 29

Jury Instruction No. 29 stated:

During an attack upon a group, a defendant's intent to kill need not be directed at any one individual. It is enough if the intent to kill is directed at the group. The State is not required to prove that a Defendant intended to kill a specific person in the group.

9 AA 1566. The preceding instruction, No. 28, stated:

If you believe that at the time of the shooting in this case a defendant intended to kill any person, or to aid and abet his co-defendant with the deliberate intention to unlawfully kill any person, it is of no legal consequence that he or his co-defendant mistakenly injured a different person. His intent to kill transfers to the person actually harmed.

9 AA 1565.

Read together, these instructions allowed the jury to find Appellant guilty of attempted murder when he shot at the people in the open doorway of the home. Whether he thought he would kill the homeowners instead of the police was addressed in Jury Instruction No. 28. Whether he shot at a group of people and did not care who he killed was addressed in Jury Instruction No. 29. Both are accurate expressions of Nevada law and are supported by the facts in this case. The instruction on group transferred intent comes from Ewell v. State, 105 Nev. 897, 899, 785 P.2d 1028, 1029 (1989). Ewell stands for the proposition that the State is not required to prove Appellant intended to kill a specific member of a group when he fired at the group. Id.

Whether the group entailed the two officers alone or included the two homeowners who were very close to the bullets being fired, a group was in fact being fired upon. 4 AA 0731. Two officers alone comprise a group. Dictionary.com defines a group as "any collection or assemblage of persons or things." The second definition is more specific: "a number of persons or things ranged or considered together as being related in some way." The two officers were grouped in the doorway; they were part of the larger group of four people near the back door. They related to each other as fellow officers or fellow persons under fire. There is no

logical or legal basis for failing to apply **Ewell** to the facts here. The assertion that a "large" group must be assembled is unsupported in the law or in common understanding of the term. 9 AA 1413.

A shooter can be accused of attempted murder when he fires at people without wishing a particular one dead, or even without identifying who exactly he is aiming at. Here, the jury did not need to puzzle over whether Appellant desired the death of Officer Richardson, Officer Grego-Smith, Mr. Clarkson, or Mr. Grimaldi. It sufficed that Appellant fired a shotgun at all four men. The State argued, and the district court considered, that the homeowners were also there, together with the officers. 9 AA 1414. The court recalled that the homeowners testified the bullets whizzed past them. 9 AA 1414-15. The district court evaluated and properly dismissed Appellant's objection. 9 AA 1414.

That Ewell concerned a drive-by shooting and the case at bar involved Appellant in a backyard firing a shotgun at whoever opened the door is immaterial. AOB at 31-32. Appellant does not even explain why this fact should undermine the applicability of Ewell, nor can it, since riding in a car is not an element of attempted murder.

As in Ewell, the contested jury instruction did not relieving prosecution of its duty to prove the elements of attempted murder and Appellant had proper notice of the charges he had to defend against.

B. Jury Instruction No. 38

Jury Instruction No. 38 stated:

The flight of a person immediately after the commission of a crime, or after he is accused of a crime, is not sufficient in itself to establish his guilt, but is a fact which, if proved, may be considered by you in light of all other proved facts in deciding the question of his guilt or innocence. The essence of flight embodies the idea of deliberately going away with consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding apprehension or prosecution. Whether or not evidence of flight shows a consciousness of guilt and the significance to be attached to such a circumstance are matters for your deliberation

9 AA 1575.

The jury was entitled to be instructed on flight because Appellant's codefendant fled. 7 AA 1189, 1196-97, 1200. Since Appellant was arrested right in the backyard of the house he planned to burgle, the jury could not reasonably have applied this instruction to him. 5 AA 0923.

Appellant asked for no limiting instruction and made no objection to the instruction, so the giving of this instruction is reviewed for plain error. Contrary to Appellant's contention, an instruction on flight does not inherently wield undue influence. AOB at 31-32. In his cited case, Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 119 P.3d 107 (2005), a significant amount of time passed between the crime and the arrest. Id. at 582, 119 P.3d at 126. Weber contended that this time gap was due to police inefficiency, not his own efforts at evading the police. Id. If true, an instruction on flight could have prejudiced the jury, so the Court carefully scrutinized the record.

The Court concluded ample evidence showed he evaded the police so the instruction was warranted. Id.

Appellant cites Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 839 P.2d 578 (1992), which is also inapplicable. In Guy, the criminal did not flee until thirteen days after the murder, and had many reasons for fleeing at that time independent of the crime charged. Id. at 777, 839 P.2d at 583. The flight instruction was incorrectly given because it implied guilt for one crime even though the fleeing involved guilt of another. Id. The Court held the error was harmless, though. Id.

Miles v. State, 97 Nev. 82, 624 P.2d 494 (1981) is also inapplicable here. In Miles, this Court examined the record to ensure a flight instruction was appropriate, because to do otherwise might allow that instruction to emphasize one part of the evidence over another. Id. at 85, 624 P.2d at 496. The Court wanted "to be certain that the record supports the conclusion that appellant's going away was not just a mere leaving but was with a consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding arrest." Id.

Here, unlike in Weber, there is no evidence that a significant amount of time passed between crime and arrest. The flight instruction was not used to explain the time between the two events. Unlike in Guy, a flight instruction would not cause the jury to infer Appellant's guilt based on his flight from a different crime. Unlike in Miles, Appellant did not go away at all, so the jury could not misinterpret his doing

so. No jury prejudice could result from a flight instruction where no evidence of flight on Appellant's part existed.

Appellant points to no evidence that the jury improperly imputed this flight instruction to his behavior. He cites to no part of the record that could in any way have confused the jury when combined with the flight instruction. Reviewing this instruction for plain error, Appellant's contentions are subject to summary dismissal. "'Bare' and 'naked' allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief." Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

C. Jury Instruction No. 40

Jury Instruction No. 40 stated:

The Defendant is presumed innocent unless the contrary is proved. This presumption places upon the State the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crime charged and that the Defendant is the person who committed the offense.

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